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The story behind the forgotten ‘first’ shooting down of a Zeppelin over
Great Britain.

by Jonathon Catton

Terror Weapon

In the first two years of the Great War, successful bombing attacks by
the German “terror weapon™, Zeppelin airships, had induced wide spread
panic and horror in the hearts of the civilian population of London and East
Anglia. Despite efforts to protect our capital and military sites. the raids
continued: it appeared we had no effective defence!

But the events on the night of March 31" 1916 were to change our
previous unsuccessful defence. The Zeppelin LZ15, on a night time raid,
flew over the Thames riverside village of Purfleet, in the parish of West
Thurrock, Essex. Below was a detachment of Royal Garrison Artillery Anti-
aireraft gunners, protecting the Government Gunpowder Magazines and
Barracks, ready for action.

During the ensuring defence, the Purfleet gunners were credited,
amangst others, with crippling and causing the LZ15 to crash, eventually,
into the Thames. The destruction of the first Zeppelin over Great Britain was
one of the first successes the native population could celebrate.

So great was the threat to the Capital that the Lord Mayor of London,
having offered a reward of £500 to the first person to destroy a Zeppelin,
was eventually allowed by the War Department to present gold medallions to
the 353 men who helped achieve the destruction of LZ15. First in line for
these awards were the 42 Gunners and 2 Electrical Engineers at Purfleet.

Leppelin

The inventor of the rigid type airship was Ferdinand. Count Von
Zeppelin, who was educated at Stuttgart and joined the German Army in
[858, retiring in 1891 with the rank of General. By 1884 Germany had an
experimental airship establishment, and in 1901 it formed its first Airship
Battalion, which by 1911 had risen to four battalions and 200 first line flying
machines.

At the outbreak of war, Germany was to have a fleet of 25 military
Zeppelins available for aerial bombing and reconnaissance. The Naval
Zeppelins or “P” type, were given the suffix LZ (Luftschiff Zeppelin) to
their registration number.
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Zeppelin LZ 15

LZ15 was commissioned on the 12" of September 1913. It had impressive
specifications, a length of 536 5, diameter of 61° 47, height 79" 4”, inside
were 16 cells which held 1,126,400 cubic ft. of hydrogen.

Germany paid special attention to purifying the gas to lessen the risk of
explosions. The structural framework was made of Duralumin as opposed to
the Schutte Lang rigid airship which had a framework of wood. The bomb
load was of about 1.5 tons, half usually being incendiaries.

The Zeppelins were hard to control in strong winds and were difficult to
navigate accurately, especially during night time raids when the “black out”
had been introduced. Military objectives were first approved for bombing on
the 9" January 1915, the first raid being on the night of 19"/20" January. In
July 1915, the Kaiser sanctioned the bombing of London. although he
ordered that historic buildings, like St.Paul’s, should be spared!

Anti-aircraft Guns

In Great Britain it was only in 1911 that some anxious questions were
raised in Parliament and elsewhere about the growth of the German Airship
Battalions and the provision of our own Anti-Aircraft defences. In 1913 the
Royal Regiment of Artillery had ordered some quick firing, high angle guns
for anti-aircraft defence and it was stated in the April of that year that anti-
aircraft guns were in a position to open fire without delay!

A range of land and naval service mountings were developed, for use
with 3 inch, 4 inch, and 12, 13 and 18 pdr high angle guns, allowing for
mobile, transportable or fixed defences. The 3 inch 20 cwt high angle gun,
purpase made for anti-aircraft defence, was used in static emplacements, (as
opposed to the 13 pdr mobile gun units mounted on the backs of lorries), and
had the following specifications;

Weight of gun 12,500 Ibs. Vertical Range 18,000 feet,
Weight of shell 12.5 Ibs. Horizontal range 31,000 feet.
Elevation of barrel 90 degrees. Muzzle velocity 2,500 ftisec.
Traversing 360 degrees.  Rate of Fire 15 rounds/min.
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However, even a month after declaring war with Germany in 1914, there
were only 33 purpose designed Anti-Aircraft guns to defend the whole
country! To compound the problem the defence of London was controlled by
the Admiralty and the defence of the naval ports by the War Office. In fact, a
special request by the Admiralty to defend two ammunition dumps had
resulted in some 6 inch howitzers and a 12 pdr gun being sited at high angle
fixed positions (they could not traverse).

At Woodbridge, for instance, the 1* Battery Essex Royal Horse Artillery,
constructed one of these modified gun pits to allow a field gun to be fired at
high angle. It was made from a circular concrete gun pit with a four wheel
trolley on which the mount of the gun was fixed with the trail of the gun in
the bottom of the pit to give maximum elevation.

The crews operated day and night duties, Gunner H. V. Tuck recalled:

‘It was the first qun to fire at a Zeppelin, which was on the night Liverpool
Street was bombed, on the night we had the alarm we turned out in our
shirts and pants and fired three shots, and were credited with a near
miss. The crew took a risk owing to excess elevation of the gun coming
over onto them, but fortunately this did not happen”. (Essex Countryside
Vol. 16 No. 138 July 1968)

The London Defences

In fact the first raid on London by a Zeppelin was ordered on the g
August, but bad weather delayed this action until the successful raid by
Zeppelin LZ13 on the night of 8"/9" September. Defences at this time
included a simple system of ground observation posts, established to give
carly warning of the raider’s approach. The London gun defences consisted
of four 6 pdr. Hotchkiss, six | pounder pom-pom, and two 3 inch naval guns.

The orders placed by the Ministry of Munitions for new anti-aircraft
guns of an improved design were only slowly coming to fruition. There was
also no height finding equipment to aid the fire control, actual engagements
of targets was carried out by “guess and by God™, although drill, practise and
actual engagement was to hone the accuracy of the gunners.

In addition there were 12 acetylene searchlights manned by 120 special
constables. The organisation was, in the main, made up of civilian
volunteers, which was not entirely satisfactory. Admiral Sir Percy Scott, on
taking over command of the London defences in September 1913, enrolled
all the volunteers into a Royal Navy Volunteer Reserve Corps. (RN.V.R.)




Almost to the end of 1915 communications for the anti-aircraft defence
system were chaotic. Information on sightings of enemy craft passed from
the Police to the Admiralty Staff, from there to the War Office, then to
Scotland Yard, who informed the railways and then the Speaker of the
House of Commons. Eventually the news came through to the dispersed gun
and searchlight sites.

Eventually it was seen best to divide the responsibility so that Admiralty
would engage targets over the sea and War Office would deal with enemy
targets over the land. This policy was ratified by the War Committee of the
Cabinet on the 10" February 1916. An Anti-aircraft Section was then formed
on the 16" February on Field Marshal Lord French’s Home Defence Staff.

At this time there were 65 guns mounted in the London defence system,
a few of the 3 inch 20 cwt guns were now being delivered. The men
manning the guns were made up of Territorial Field and Garrison Units of
the Royal Anrtillery, as well as Regular branches of the Regiment. Some
Officers and N.C.O.s had now received short courses of instruction at the
School of Artillery, Shoeburyness, but the majority took over their new
equipment with inexperienced gunners.

The Zeppelins continued their raids across the country and on London,
the defences appeared to be unable to stop them. blackout precautions were
put into force as panic increased with each successful raid across the nation.

The Purfleet Defences,

The guns at Purfleet were set up to protect the government magazines
and large barrack accommedation, including a P.O.W camp, built close to
the Thames riverside edge. by the outlet of the Mardyke, which drains the
Orsett and Bulphan fens. Here blackpowder, Cordite and other munitions
were stored in a series of five brick walled and roof slated magazines dating
to the 1760s and in other magazines and depot buildings, The original
magazines having been moved from Greenwich to a safe distance from
London in case of damage to the capital if an explosion occurred.

The Magazines compound had its own garrison staff and guards who
lived in the purpose built barracks with a hospital and a Commandants
House, all constructed within the perimeter of two high brick security walls
with appropriate entrances with guard rooms, The magazine labourers also
lived nearby in the small village of Purfleet,

The exact location of the anti-aircraft guns is not clear, however, a Gun
Position Observation Post appears 10 have been set up al the top of a tall
military water tower of 19" century date. This was situated at the highest
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